
 

 
 

Portfolio Holder Decision Meeting  
AGENDA 
 
 

DATE: 
 

Thursday 18 March 2010 
 

TIME: 
 

5.00 pm 
 

VENUE: 
 

Committee Room 5, 
Harrow Civic Centre 
 

 
 
 
 
 MEMBERSHIP  

 
The Portfolio Holder for Schools and Children’s Development 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact:  Miriam Wearing, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
Tel:  020 8424 1542    miriam.wearing@harrow.gov.uk 

 



 

Portfolio Holder Decision Meeting - 18 March 2010 

 AGENDA - PART I   
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DECLARATIONS OF ANY 
DISPENSATIONS GRANTED BY THE STANDARDS COMMITTEE    

 
 To receive declarations of personal or prejudicial interests, arising from business to 

be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Committee, Sub Committee, Panel or Forum; 
(b) all other Members present in any part of the room or chamber. 
 

2. MINUTES   (Pages 1 - 2) 
 
 The minutes of the meeting held on 8 December 2009 be taken as read and signed 

as a correct record. 
 

3. PETITIONS    
 
 To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under 

the provisions of Executive Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4D of the Constitution). 
 

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS    
 
 To receive questions (if any) under the provisions of Executive Procedure Rule 16 

(Part 4D of the Constitution). 
  
(Note:  Paragraph 16 of the Executive Procedure Rules stipulates that questions will 
be asked in the order notice of them was received and that there be a time limit of 
15 minutes). 
 

5. MATTERS REFERRED TO THE EXECUTIVE MEMBER    
 
 In accordance with the provisions contained in Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 

Rule 23 (Part 4F of the Constitution). 
 

6. REPORTS FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE OR SUB-
COMMITTEES    

 
 (if any) 

 
7. DETERMINATION OF THE STATUTORY PROPOSALS TO CLARIFY THE AGE 

RANGE OF PRIESTMEAD PRIMARY SCHOOL AND NURSERY   (Pages 3 - 18) 
 
 Report of the Director Schools and Children’s Development. 

 
8. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS    
 
 Which cannot otherwise be dealt with. 

 
 AGENDA - PART II - NIL   

 
 



 

Portfolio Holder Decision Meeting - 18 March 2010 

 
Publication of decisions 
 

19 March 2010 
 

Deadline for Call in 
 

5.00 pm on 26 March 2010 

Decisions implemented if not Called in 
 

27 March 2010 



This page is intentionally left blank



  PHDM 29  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER DECISION MEETING  8 DECEMBER 2009 

Chairman: * Councillor David Ashton 
   
* Denotes Member present 

PART I - RECOMMENDATIONS - NIL PART I - RECOMMENDATIONS - NIL 

PART II - MINUTES 

115. Declarations of Interest and Declarations of Any Dispensations Granted by the 
Standards Committee:

RESOLVED:  To note that (1) there were no declarations of interests made by the 
Member in relation to the business to be transacted at this meeting; 

(2) there were no declarations of any dispensations granted by the Standards 
Committee in relation to the business to be transacted at this meeting. 

116. Minutes:

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 3 September 2009 be taken as 
read and signed as a correct record. 

117. Petitions:

RESOLVED:  To note that no petitions had been received. 

118. Public Questions:

RESOLVED:  To note that there were no public questions to be received at the 
meeting under the provisions of Executive Procedure Rule 16 (Part 4D of the 
Constitution). 

119. Matters referred to the Executive Member:

RESOLVED:  To note that no matters had been referred to the Executive Member for 
reconsideration in accordance with the provisions contained in the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Procedure Rule 22 (Part 4F of the Council’s Constitution). 

120. Reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub-Committees:

RESOLVED:  To note that no reports had been received. 

121. Key Decision: Council Insurance Contracts Tender:
The Leader of the Council considered a report of the Corporate Director Finance 
regarding the recent insurance tender exercise together with a confidential appendix 
setting out the results of the tender evaluation. The appendix was admitted late to the 
agenda to enable a decision to be made on the award of the Council’s Insurance 
Contracts Tender. Due to the need to evaluate the tenders, the appendix had not been 
available at the time the agenda was printed and circulated. 

The officer responded to questions on the content of the appendix. In response to a 
question, it was noted that the European Union (EU) procurement regulations had been 
rigorously applied. The savings realised would form part of the Corporate Finance 
2010/11 efficiency savings. 

It was noted that in line with other members of the consortium and to allow sufficient 
time under the EU procurement regulations to award the business for a 
commencement date of 1 January 2010, permission to waive the decision call-in period 
had been received from the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

RESOLVED:  That officers be authorised to enter into the recommended insurance 
contracts as set out in appendix 2 with effect from 1 January 2010.

122. Rayners Lane Children's Centre, Units 3-4 Lime Terrace, Tranquil Lane, Harrow:
In accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the Leader 
of the Council considered a joint report of the Corporate Director Children’s Services 
and Corporate Director Place Shaping on the new Sure Start Children’s Centre to be 
established on the Rayners Lane Estate. The report was admitted late to the agenda to 

Agenda Item 2 
Pages 1 to 2 

1



PHDM 30  

enable Agreements to proceed and payment to be made for works to set up the 
Rayners Lane Children’s Centre. Due to consultations, the report had not been 
available at the time the agenda was printed and circulated. 

An officer introduced the report, which requested authority to enter into management 
and lease arrangements with Home Group Limited. The basis for the lease and 
sources of capital and revenue funding were noted. It was also noted that in order for 
the Agreements to proceed and payment to be made for the works, permission to 
waive the decision call-in period had been received from the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 

RESOLVED:  That (1) the Corporate Director Children’s Services, in consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services, be authorised to enter into a management 
agreement with Home Group Limited; 

(2)  the Corporate Director Place Shaping, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Major Contracts and Property, be authorised to enter into an agreement for lease and 
subsequent lease with Home Group Limited for the new Children’s Centre on the 
Rayners Lane Estate. 

(3)  the payment of the invoice for £270k be approved. 

123. Exclusion of the Press and Public:

RESOLVED:  That the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
item for the reasons set out below: 

Item Title Reason

10. Council Insurance Contracts Tender 
2009 – Appendix 2. 

Information under paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972, relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the 
authority holding that information).  

124. Council Insurance Contracts Tender 2009:
(see also Minute 121) 

(Note:  The meeting having commenced at 4.42 pm, closed at 4.57 pm) 

(Signed) COUNCILLOR DAVID ASHTON 
Chairman 

2



 

 
 
 
 

Ref PHD 051-09 

 
 

SUBJECT: 
 

Determination of the Statutory 
Proposals to clarify the age range of 
Priestmead Primary School and 
Nursery 
    

Responsible 
Officer: 
 

Heather Clements, Director of Schools and 
Children’s Development 
 

Portfolio Holder: 
 

Councillor Anjana Patel, 
Portfolio Holder for Schools and Children's 
Development 
 

Key Decision:  
 

Yes 

Urgent/Non Urgent: 
 

Non Urgent 

Power to be 
exercised: 
 

Executive Procedural Rule 11 (Procedure for 
Decision Making by the Executive) Para 
11.2, Part 4D of the Constitution 

Exempt: 
 

No 

Decision subject to 
Call-in: 
 

Yes 

Enclosures: 
 

Annex A - Decision Makers Guidance 

Agenda Item 7 
Pages 3 to 18 

3



 

 

 
Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 
 
Statutory Proposals were published in January 2010 that if approved would 
establish the age range of Priestmead Primary School and Nursery to be 4-11 
years plus nursery from 1 September 2010 with a planned admission number of 90.  
No objections have been received during the representation period.  The Portfolio 
Holder for Schools and Children's Development is requested to approve the 
statutory proposals under individual delegation from Cabinet on 17 September 
2009 to determine this key decision. 
 
Recommendations:  
The Portfolio Holder for Schools and Children's Development is requested to 
approve the statutory proposals to establish the age range of Priestmead Primary 
School and Nursery to be 4-11 years plus nursery from 1 September 2010 with a 
planned admission number of 90. 
 
Reason:  (For recommendation) 
Changing the age range of Priestmead Primary School and Nursery would bring 
the school into line with the school reorganisation arrangements at all other schools 
in Harrow, as no other primary sector school in Harrow will have Year 7 classes.  
This change would ensure the pupils receive a consistent education that is aligned 
with the National Curriculum Key Stages. 
 
 

Section 2 – Report 
 
Introductory paragraph 
1. Harrow’s vision is to provide high achieving schools at the centre of community 

services, and to continue improvement in schools to make education in Harrow 
even better.  In order to further this vision, in October 2007 Cabinet agreed its 
strategic approach to school organisation. 

 
Options considered 
2. Harrow Council has a duty to implement two different sets of statutory proposals 

in relation to Priestmead Middle School, namely: 
• The change of age range to 4–12 years on 1 January 2010 (to achieve 

the amalgamation of the two schools) 
• The change of age range to 7–11 years on 1 September 2010 

(published in February 2009 as part of the borough-wide school 
reorganisation proposals, and agreed by Cabinet in April 2009) 

 
3. Priestmead First School and Priestmead Middle School combined on 1 January 

2010 and became Priestmead Primary School and Nursery for pupils aged 4 to 
12 years with an attached nursery class. 

 
4. From September 2010, the school reorganisation proposals will be implemented 

and all schools in Harrow will be aligned with the National Curriculum Key 
Stages.  Primary schools will have pupils from age 4 to 11 years, in Reception to 

4



 

Year 6 classes.  This change will not affect nursery classes.  All pupils will attend 
secondary school in Year 7. 

 
5. The Priestmead Primary School and Nursery age range will need to be brought 

into line with these arrangements, as no other primary sector schools in Harrow 
will have Year 7 classes. 

 
6. At its meeting on 17 September 2009, Harrow Cabinet decided statutory notices 

be published in respect of the combined Priestmead School early in 2010 to 
clarify the school reorganisation position in September 2010, and the Portfolio 
Holder for Schools and Children’s Development be authorised to determine the 
additional statutory proposals. 

 
Consultation 
7. A statutory consultation was held from Thursday 19 November 2009 until Friday 

11 December 2009.  The consultation paper was sent to all parents, members of 
staff and governors of both schools on 19 November 2009.  Parents, staff and 
governors of the Priestmead schools were invited to send their comments to the 
school offices, and all responses were passed on to Harrow Council for 
consideration. 

 
8. On 19 November 2009, Harrow Council sent the consultation paper to interested 

parties in accordance with the Department for Children, Schools and Families 
School Organisation and Competitions Unit guidance, including neighbouring 
local authorities, diocesan authorities, local MPs and elected members, voluntary 
and community organisations, and Harrow Youth Council.  The consultation 
paper was also made available on the Harrow Council website. 

 
9. The responses to the consultation from parents, staff and governors of both 

schools showed 77% of the responses from parents and staff of both schools 
were in support of the proposals, 3.5% were opposed, and 19.5% were not sure.  
Two comments were recorded on the return slips: one in support stating this is 
the best thing ever, and also it should have been done many, many years ago; 
and another stating not sure because of concerns about some children's ability 
to cope with high school environment at the age they are. 

 
10. Harrow Association of Disabled People responded that it is happy with the 

proposal.  It commented that it is not clear whether it will make a difference to 
disabled children though if anything it will give a stronger likelihood of continuity 
in education for them, which is generally positive. 

 
11. The London Diocesan Board for Schools responded that it is pleased to support 

the proposal. 
 
12. The Priestmead Schools Federated Governing Body met on 3 December 2009 

to consider its response to the consultation.  The Governing Body voted 
unanimously in favour for the proposed new age range of the school from 
September 2010.  The Governing Body has representation across both schools, 
which ensures that the interests of stakeholders across both schools are 
properly considered. 

 
13. On 17 December 2009, the Director of Schools and Children’s Development 

considered the outcome of the statutory consultation and the recommendation 

5



 

from the Priestmead Schools Federated Governing Body, and agreed to publish 
statutory proposals that if approved would establish the age range of Priestmead 
School to be 4-11 years plus nursery from 1 September 2010 with a planned 
admission number of 90. 

 
Statutory Notices 
14. Statutory proposals were published on 11 January 2010 with a statutory 

representation period of 6 weeks until 22 February 2010.  The local authority 
received no representations during the representation period. 

 
15. The determination of these statutory proposals was delegated by Cabinet to the 

Portfolio Holder for Schools and Children’s Development to ensure that the issue 
of two statutory proposals running concurrently in conflict is resolved within the 
shortest timeframe and to avoid any protracted uncertainty for the school 
community who expressed their strong support for the amalgamation. 

 
Determination of statutory proposals 
16. The Director of Schools and Children’s Development recommends that the 

Portfolio Holder agree the statutory proposals to establish the age range of 
Priestmead Primary School and Nursery to be 4-11 years plus nursery from 1 
September 2010 with a planned admission number of 90. 

 
17. In her role as the Decision Maker, the Portfolio Holder for Schools and Children's 

Development must have regard to the statutory and non-statutory guidance, 
provided by the Department for Children, Schools and Families, when 
determining statutory proposals.  The guidance has been provided to the 
Portfolio Holder, and is available as background papers.  Annex A provides the 
Portfolio Holder with commentary on the salient points contained in the Decision 
Makers’ Guidance. 

 
18. The Local Authority has a statutory entitlement under ss.15 and 19 of the 

Education and Inspections Act 2006, to issue statutory proposals in respect of 
school reorganisation.  The statutory proposals were published following the 
decision made by Cabinet on 17 September 2009.  The proposals must be 
determined within two months of the representation period, which ended on 22 
February 2010, or the matter is referred to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator 
for determination.  The Portfolio Holder for Schools and Children's Development 
must have regard to the Secretary of State’s guidance when reaching her 
decision, and should consider the representations received during the course of 
the publication period when making her decision. 

 
Financial Implications 
19. There are no further financial implications that would arise from the proposal.  

Decisions have already been made to amalgamate the two Priestmead schools 
from 1 January 2010, and to change the ages of transfer across Harrow schools 
from 1 September 2010. Amalgamating schools has a positive albeit small 
revenue effect, and in previous cases this has resulted in improved efficiencies 
of approximately £40k.  The principal efficiencies result from having one 
headteacher instead of two.  Schools would also benefit from having fewer 
Service Level Agreement (SLA) charges for some services, for instance, at 
present first and middle schools are charged separately for the Schools Finance 
SLA.  This would change to only one charge after amalgamation. 

 

6



 

Performance Issues 
20. Whilst Harrow’s performance is currently above national and statistical 

neighbours’ averages at all Key Stages, Harrow’s targets, which are set annually 
for the DCSF, are highly challenging.  The table below presents Harrow’s 
performance against its targets and the national averages. 

 
 
 

Harrow’s 2008 – 09 Results 
 

 
21. There is no anticipated negative Corporate Area Assessment impact. 
 
Environmental Impact 
22. There is no significant environmental impact arising from these proposals, which 

are about clarifying the age range of an existing school. 
 
Risk Implications 
23. If the age range of Priestmead School is not brought into line with the school 

reorganisation arrangements at all other schools in Harrow, there is a potential 
risk that at some point parent(s) of a Year 7 pupil may seek to admit or retain the 
child at Priestmead School and that this may be enforceable because the age 
range of the school permits this to occur.  The implications of this may have 
adverse impacts on the education of that child and of other children. 

 
Equalities Implications 
24. These proposals do not make changes to equal access to school provision. 
 
 
 

EYFSP Actual Target National 
% children achieving 78 points or more AND 
at least 6 points in Social & Emotional & 
Communication, Language and Literacy 
areas of learning 

50% 49.1% 52% 

Narrowing the gap between the lowest 
achieving 20% in the EYFSP and the rest of 
the Local Authority Area 

38.1% 33.96% 33.9% 

KS1 Actual Target National 
Reading L2+ 86% Not set 84% 
Writing L2+ 83% Not set 81% 
Maths L2+ 91% Not set 89% 
Science L2+ 88% Not set 89% 
KS2 Actual Target National 
English L4+ 82% Not set 80% 
Maths L4+ 81% Not set 79% 
Science L4+ 88% Not set 88% 
English & Maths 75% 79% 72% 
GCSE Actual Target National 
% 5+ A*-C 74.8% Not set 70.0% 
% 5+ A*-C inc English & Maths 60.8% 64% 49.8% 

7



 

Corporate Priorities 
25. The proposals support the corporate priority to build stronger communities.  The 

proposals are in line with the school reorganisation changes in the ages of 
transfer.  These changes support the aim to promote schools at the heart of their 
communities through opportunities to increase the facilities available to the 
community or the co-location of services on school sites for the local community.   

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   

   on behalf of the* 
Name: Emma Stabler √  Chief Financial Officer 
  
Date:  25 February 2010 

   
 
 

 
 

   

    on behalf of the* 
Name: George Curran √  Monitoring Officer 
 
Date: 24 February 2010 

   
 
 

 

Section 4 – Performance Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   

   on behalf of the 
Name: David Harrington √  Divisional Director 
  
Date: 25 February 2010 

  Partnership, 
Development and 
Performance 

 

8



 

 

Section 5 – Environmental Impact Officer 
Clearance 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name: Andrew Baker √  Divisional Director 
  
Date: 25 February 2010 

  (Environmental 
Services) 
 

 

Section 6 - Contact Details and Background 
Papers 
 
Contact:   Chris Melly, Senior Professional, Transforming Learning Team 

020 8420 9270 chris.melly@harrow.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers: 
Papers of Cabinet 17 September 2009 - Future Organisation of Priestmead First 
School and Priestmead Middle School 
 
DCSF School Organisation Unit guidance for decision makers 
www.dcsf.gov.uk/schoolorg 
 
 
Signature: 
 

 
………………………………………………………………………… 

Position Director of Schools and Children’s Development 
 

 
Name (print) 

 
Heather Clements 
 

Date: 
 

25 February 2010 

 

9



 

For Portfolio Holder/Leader 
 
* I do agree to the decision proposed 
 
* I do not agree to the decision proposed 
 
* Please delete as appropriate 
 
Notification of personal interests (if any): 
 
 
 
(Note: if you have a prejudicial interest you should not take this decision) 
 
Additional comments made by and/or options considered by the Portfolio 
Holder 
 
 
 
 
 
Signature: 

 
………………………………………………………………………… 

 
 

 
Portfolio Holder for Schools and Children's Development 

 
Date: 
 

 

 
 
 
Call-In Waived by the 
Chairman of Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
 

  
 NO 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

10



 Annex A              
  
 

Determination of the Statutory Proposals to clarify the age range of 
Priestmead Primary School and Nursery  

 
 
Decision Makers Guidance 
 
The decision maker for these statutory proposals is the local authority, and this report presents 
the proposals to the Portfolio Holder for Schools and Children's Development for determination.  
If the local authority fails to decide proposals within two months of the end of the representation 
period the local authority must forward proposals, and any received representations, to the 
Office of the Schools Adjudicator for decision.  This two month period will end on 22 April 2010. 
 
Decision Makers are required to have regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State when 
they take a decision on proposals.  The guidance documents are available on the School 
Organisation & Competitions Unit website at http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/schoolorg/ and in 
Background Papers. 
 
The format of this Annex follows the framework of the guidance.  The text in italics at the start of 
each section contains extracts from the guidance to assist the Portfolio Holder for Schools and 
Children's Development to understand the context. 
 
Compliance with statutory requirements 
There are 4 key issues which the Decision Maker should consider before judging the respective 
factors and merits of the statutory proposals: 
 
1. Is any information missing? 
If so, the Decision Maker should write immediately to the proposer/promoter specifying a date 
by which the information must be provided. 
 
In order to make the nature of the proposals explicit and clear for all stakeholders, as full 
information as possible was stated in the statutory consultation, the notices and the complete 
proposals. 
 
2. Does the published notice comply with statutory requirements? 
The Decision Maker should consider whether the notice is valid as soon as a copy is received.  
Where a published notice does not comply with statutory requirements it may be judged invalid 
and the Decision Maker should consider whether they can decide the proposals. 
 
Statutory Proposals were published on 11 January 2010 that if approved would establish the 
age range of Priestmead Primary School and Nursery to be 4-11 years plus nursery from 1 
September 2010 with a planned admission number of 90.   
 
The statutory notice was developed using the School Organisation & Competitions Unit ‘Build a 
Statutory Notice’ facility.  This facility is designed to help local authorities, governing bodies and 
other proposers who will be publishing statutory proposals, to construct a statutory notice which 
contains all the information required by law.   
 
The draft statutory notice was sent to the School Organisation & Competitions Unit for checking, 
and their comments were incorporated in the final notice. 
 

11



 Annex A              
  

3. Has the statutory consultation been carried out prior to the publication of the notice? 
Details of the consultation should be included in the proposals.  The Decision Maker should be 
satisfied that the consultation meets statutory requirements.  If some parties submit objections 
on the basis that consultation was not adequate, the Decision Maker may wish to take legal 
advice on the points raised.  If the requirements have not yet been met, the Decision Maker 
may judge the proposals to be invalid and should consider whether they can decide the 
proposals.  Alternatively the Decision Maker may take into account the sufficiency and quality of 
the consultation as part of their overall judgement of the proposals as a whole. 
 
A statutory consultation was held from Thursday 19 November 2009 until Friday 11 December 
2009.  The local authority has had regard to the Department for Children, Schools and Families 
(DCSF) School Organisation & Competitions Unit guidance and the consultation document was 
sent to all interested parties in accordance with the guidance. 
 
The consultation responses and outcomes (see ‘Other issues’ below) were reported to the 
Director of Schools and Children’s Development on 17 December 2009, and the Director 
agreed to publish statutory proposals. 
 
4. Are the proposals linked or “related” to other published proposals? 
Any proposals that are “related” to particular proposals must be considered together.  Generally, 
proposals should be regarded as “related” if they are included on the same notice (unless the 
notice makes it clear that the proposals are not “related”). Proposals should be regarded as 
“related” if the notice makes a reference to a link to other proposals.  If the statutory notices do 
not confirm a link, but it is clear that a decision on one of the proposals would be likely to 
directly affect the outcome or consideration of the other, the proposals should be regarded as 
“related”.  Where proposals are “related”, the decisions should be compatible e.g. if one set of 
proposals is for the removal of provision, and another is for the establishment or enlargement of 
provision for displaced pupils, both should be approved or rejected. 
 
A joint statutory notice was published in two parts on the advice of the School Organisation & 
Competitions Unit.  Part 1 is a notice to revoke an earlier statutory proposal, thereby relieving 
Harrow Council of the duty to implement.   Part 2 is a notice to change the age range of 
Priestmead Primary School and Nursery to 4-11 years plus nursery from 1 September 2010 
with a planned admission number of 90. 
 
Factors to be considered by decision makers 
The factors contained in the Secretary of State’s guidance should not be taken to be 
exhaustive.  Their importance will vary, depending on the type and circumstances of the 
proposals.  All proposals should be considered on their individual merits. 
 
The sections that follow contain information to assist the Portfolio Holder for Schools and 
Children's Development to determine how the proposals meet the factors the decision maker 
must have regard to in reaching a decision.  Not all of the factors contained in the decision 
makers guidance are relevant to these proposals.  For example: the proposals do not make 
changes to early years provision or nursery schools; there are no issues of poor performance; 
there are no post-16 implications; there is no change to school category; and there is no special 
educational needs reorganisation.  The effect of the proposals is to establish the age range of 
Priestmead Primary School and Nursery to be 4-11 years plus nursery from 1 September 2010 
with a planned admission number of 90.  The following sections, therefore, focus on relevant 
factors of the guidance. 
 

12



 Annex A              
  

A system shaped by parents 
The Government’s aim is to create a schools system shaped by parents which delivers 
excellence and equity.  The Education and Inspections Act 2006 amends the Education Act 
1996 to place new duties on local authorities to secure diversity in the provision of schools and 
to increase opportunities for parental choice when planning the provision of schools in their 
areas.  In addition, local authorities are under a specific duty to respond to representations from 
parents about the provision of schools, including requests to establish new schools or make 
changes to existing schools.  The Government's aim is to secure a more diverse and dynamic 
schools system which is shaped by parents.  The Decision Maker should take into account the 
extent to which the proposals are consistent with the new duties on local authorities. 
 
Strategic Approach to School Organisation 
In 2002, the council undertook a debate on School Organisation in Harrow, the outcome of 
which was a consensus from stakeholders on three issues: to increase opportunities for early 
years; to increase choices and opportunities at post-16 including provision on school sites; and 
to change the age of transfer.  The council has secured the provision for early years and post-
16 and will implement changes to the ages of transfer in September 2010.  
 
In October 2007, Cabinet agreed its strategic approach to school organisation and reaffirmed its 
commitment to change school organisation.  Cabinet established a Stakeholder Reference 
Group (SRG) to consider issues arising from school reorganisation and agreed a revised 
amalgamation policy.  The council’s amalgamation policy contributes to maintaining and 
improving the educational performance of Harrow schools and their pupils, and also to 
preparations for a change in the age of transfer.  In October 2008 Cabinet agreed a clarified 
amalgamation policy and implementation guidance. 
 
In April 2009, Cabinet agreed statutory proposals to implement school reorganisation in Harrow 
through changes in the ages of transfer.  Statutory proposals were published following a 
statutory consultation on school reorganisation held in Autumn 2008, which indicated support 
for the school reorganisation proposals. 
 
Priestmead Schools Proposals 
Parents and stakeholders have had the opportunity to contribute and shape the proposals for 
the Priestmead Schools. 
 
A statutory consultation about amalgamating the two schools was held from 23 February 2009 
until 23 March 2009.  The written responses to the consultation showed 77% of the responses 
from parents and staff of both schools were in support of the proposals, 6% were opposed, and 
17% were not sure (percentages rounded to nearest % point).  75% of parents and 90% of staff 
were in support of the proposals.  Statutory proposals to combine the two schools were 
subsequently published and approved, and the combined school was established on 1 January 
2010. 
 
The statutory consultation about the current proposal to establish the age range of the 
combined school from September 2010 was held from Thursday 19 November 2009 until Friday 
11 December 2009.  Information about the responses to this consultation is given under ‘Other 
issues’ later in this Annex. 
 
The local authority received no representations during the representation period. 
 

13



 Annex A              
  

Standards 
The Government wishes to encourage changes to local school provision where it will boost 
standards and opportunities for young people, whilst matching school place supply as closely as 
possible to pupils’ and parents’ needs and wishes.  Decision Makers should be satisfied that 
proposals for changes to a school’s provision will contribute to raising local standards of 
provision, and will lead to improved attainment for children and young people.  They should pay 
particular attention to the effects on groups that tend to under-perform including children from 
certain ethnic groups, children from deprived backgrounds and children in care, with the aim of 
narrowing attainment gaps. 
 
Priestmead First School and Priestmead Middle School combined on 1 January 2010, and the 
educational benefits identified arising from amalgamation are stated below.  The current 
proposals to establish the age range of Priestmead Primary School and Nursery to be 4-11 
years plus nursery from 1 September 2010 with a planned admission number of 90 will ensure 
the combined school is aligned with the National Curriculum Key Stages to improve standards 
in line with all the other maintained schools in Harrow. 
 
The council’s amalgamation policy identifies a number of educational benefits arising from the 
creation of all through primary schools: 
 

• Organisational structure is aligned with the National Curriculum Key Stages.  Planning 
across Foundation, Key Stages 1 and 2 as a coherent whole for the primary phase 
provides greater flexibility across and between the Key Stages. 
 

• Reducing the number of changes for children in a school system strengthens continuity 
and progression for children and families in the primary phase, both in terms of the 
curriculum and pastoral experience.  Research shows that the fewer moves children 
have during their school career the better they perform.  However, currently some 
children change schools at the end of Year 3 in the First School, at the end of Year 7 in 
the Middle School and at the end of Year 11 in the High School.  There can be a further 
change where a child attends a nursery.  If there is a combined primary school, and with 
post-16 provision available on all high school sites, the number of imposed changes will 
be minimised.  In general, children and their families will have just two major changes.  
This reduction in the number of school moves is important, and particularly for children 
with special educational needs. 
 

• Greater opportunities are created for older children to take on responsibility.  For younger 
children the presence of older children provides aspirational role models and also 
mentoring support.  
 

• Teachers and classroom staff have access to the whole primary curriculum.  This 
supports and informs whole school planning, assessment, pastoral systems, etc, and 
provides opportunities for wider staff development and experience across the full primary 
phase over time.   
 

• Growing national evidence shows that all through primary schools create more 
consistency between year groups and key stages in learning, planning and assessment.  
There is improved use of teachers’ skills, specialist teaching and improved pastoral 
arrangements, as well as benefits for management, leadership and financial 
management.  The financial viability of separate infant schools with two forms of entry 
could be challenging. 
 

14



 Annex A              
  

“Where primary education is provided in separate key stages, there is 
generally very little effective curriculum continuity and progression.  In 
such situations the scope for discontinuity of learning is increased, 
together with the attendant, wasteful, repetitive teaching of subject 
content and learning experiences in the receiving key stage.” 
Educational Management Information Exchange at NFER 

 
Diversity 
The Government’s aim is to transform our school system so that every child receives an 
excellent education – whatever their background and wherever they live.  A vital part of the 
Government’s vision is to create a more diverse school system offering excellence and choice, 
where each school has a strong ethos and sense of mission and acts as a centre of excellence 
or specialist provision.  Decision Makers should consider how proposals will contribute to local 
diversity.  They should consider the range of schools in the relevant area of the local authority 
and whether the expansion of the school will meet the aspirations of parents, help raise local 
standards and narrow attainment gaps. 
 
Schools in Harrow offer diversity to parents both in terms of ethos and size.  Harrow has a 
Church of England primary school, a Hindu primary school and a Jewish primary school, six 
Roman Catholic primary schools and two Roman Catholic high schools. Schools are organised 
as separate and combined first and middle schools and have a range of planned admission 
numbers.  Increased self-governance is promoted within a collaborative whole-borough 
framework, for example through partnerships and soft and hard federations, and in April 2009 
the two Priestmead schools established a federated governing body for the schools. 
 
Harrow Schools are popular and successful, but the profile of Harrow’s population is changing 
and, to meet challenging targets to continue this status, schools need to evolve and innovate.  
The local authority is committed to developing a positive and proactive approach to: encourage 
greater self-governance in order to extend choice, diversity and fair access; raise standards as 
part of the transformation of education expected from Building Schools for the Future (BSF) and 
Primary Strategy for Change investments; listening to parents and acting to promote diversity of 
school provision where this is appropriate; and all schools to offer extended services by 2010. 
 
Every Child Matters 
The Decision Maker should consider how proposals will help every child and young person 
achieve their potential in accordance with Every Child Matters’ principles which are:  to be 
healthy; stay safe; enjoy and achieve; make a positive contribution to the community and 
society; and achieve economic well-being.  This should include considering how the school will 
provide a wide range of extended services, opportunities for personal development, access to 
academic and vocational training, measures to address barriers to participation and support for 
children and young people with particular needs, e.g. looked after children or children with 
special educational needs (SEN) and disabilities. 
 
The five outcomes for Every Child Matters are central to all Harrow plans for schools so that 
wrap around care, support for families and a wide range of opportunities are developed in all 
schools.  These extended services also support the Narrowing the Gap agenda, and these 
proposals would not impact negatively on these agendas. 
 
The combined school is able to further promote the Every Child Matters outcomes by ensuring 
the most effective and coordinated extended services support to families and children, and the 
use of school facilities. 
 

15



 Annex A              
  

Equal opportunity issues 
The Decision Maker should consider whether there are any sex, race or disability discrimination 
issues that arise from the changes being proposed, for example that there is equal access to 
single sex provision for the other sex to meet parental demand.  Similarly there needs to be a 
commitment to provide access to a range of opportunities which reflect the ethnic and cultural 
mix of the area, while ensuring that such opportunities are open to all. 
 
These proposals do not make changes to equal access to school provision. 
 
Need for places 
Where proposals will increase provision, the Decision Maker should consider the supporting 
evidence presented for the increase.  The Decision Maker should take into account the 
existence of spare capacity in neighbouring schools, but also the quality and popularity with 
parents of the schools in which spare capacity exists and evidence of parents’ aspirations for 
places in particular schools.  The existence of surplus capacity in neighbouring less popular or 
successful schools should not in itself prevent the addition of new places. 
 
These statutory proposals do not lead to the creation of additional places or to the loss of any 
places, and no pupils would be displaced by the proposals. 
 
The statutory proposals for Priestmead Middle School, agreed by Cabinet in April 2009 as part 
of the school reorganisation proposals, included changing the planned admission number of the 
school from 93 places to 90 places from September 2010 (this modest reduction in the planned 
admission number of the middle school aligns it with the planned admission number of the first 
school). 
 
Harrow prepares pupil projections and manages the supply of places across the Borough and 
within Planning Areas.  Through this process proposals are brought forward to increase or 
reduce the supply of places accordingly.  Pupil projections suggest that there will be an increase 
in pupil numbers in Harrow by 2015. Although the economic climate is affecting proposed 
housing developments, if they are completed they could generate child yield which would further 
increase the pupil projections.  Additionally, in common with many other local authorities Harrow 
has experienced an unexpected increase in level of applications for Reception places. To 
accommodate additional applications for September 2009, four additional Reception classes at 
community schools were created as bulge years. The situation is being monitored closely and 
planning for September 2010 has commenced. Harrow considers a range of options to manage 
the supply of school places, including temporary expansion, bulge year groups, and permanent 
expansion.  Should additional places be required, then options would be considered for all 
schools in a relevant area. 
 
Travel and Accessibility for All 
In considering proposals for the reorganisation of schools, Decision Makers should satisfy 
themselves that accessibility planning has been properly taken into account.  Facilities are to be 
accessible by those concerned, by being located close to those who will use them, and the 
proposed changes should not adversely impact on disadvantaged groups.  In deciding statutory 
proposals, the Decision Maker should bear in mind that proposals should not have the effect of 
unreasonably extending journey times or increasing transport costs, or result in too many 
children being prevented from travelling sustainably due to unsuitable routes e.g. for walking, 
cycling etc.  Proposals should also be considered on the basis of how they will support and 
contribute to the local authority’s duty to promote the use of sustainable travel and transport to 
school. 
 

16



 Annex A              
  

As there are no proposals to change the overall size of the school or to change the site, these 
proposals would not affect journey times or lead to increased transport costs.  
 
School category changes 
No changes to school categories (e.g. no changes to become voluntary aided, foundation body, 
trust or academy) arise from these proposals. 
 
Funding and land 
The Decision Maker should be satisfied that any capital required to implement the proposals will 
be available.  Normally, this will be some form of written confirmation from the source of funding 
on which the promoters rely (e.g. the local authority, DCSF, or Learning and Skills Council).  In 
the case of a local authority, this should be from an authorised person within the local authority, 
and provide detailed information on the funding, provision of land and premises etc.  Proposals 
should not be approved conditionally upon funding being made available, except for proposals 
being funded under the Private Finance Initiative or through the Building Schools for the Future 
programme. 
 
The statutory proposals are not dependent on capital funding being available.  There are no 
capital receipts, new sites or playing fields, or land tenure arrangements arising from these 
proposals. 
 
Special educational needs provision 
When reviewing SEN provision, planning or commissioning alternative types of SEN provision 
or considering proposals for change local authorities should aim for a flexible range of provision 
and support that can respond to the special educational needs of individual pupils and parental 
preferences, rather than necessarily establishing broad categories of provision according to 
special educational need or disability. 
 
These statutory proposals do not involve a review of special educational needs provision. 
 
Other issues 
The decision maker should consider the views of all those affected by the proposals or who 
have an interest in them.  The decision maker should not simply take account of the numbers of 
people expressing a particular view when considering representations made on proposals.  
Instead the decision maker should give the greatest weight to representations from those 
stakeholders likely to be most directly affected by the proposals. 
 
The local authority received no representations during the representation period. 
 
The statutory consultation was held from Thursday 19 November 2009 until Friday 11 December 
2009.  The responses to the consultation from parents, staff and governors of both schools 
showed 77% of the responses from parents and staff of both schools were in support of the 
proposals, 3.5% were opposed, and 19.5% were not sure.  Two comments were recorded on the 
return slips: one in support stating this is the best thing ever, and also it should have been done 
many, many years ago; and another stating not sure because of concerns about some children's 
ability to cope with high school environment at the age they are. 
 
Harrow Association of Disabled People responded that it is happy with the proposal.  It 
commented that it is not clear whether it will make a difference to disabled children though if 
anything it will give a stronger likelihood of continuity in education for them, which is generally 
positive. 
 

17



 Annex A              
  

The London Diocesan Board for Schools responded that it is pleased to support the proposal. 
 
The Priestmead Schools Federated Governing Body met on 3 December 2009 to consider its 
response to the consultation.  The Governing Body voted unanimously in favour for the proposed 
new age range of the school from September 2010.  The Governing Body has representation 
across both schools, which ensures that the interests of stakeholders across both schools are 
properly considered. 
 

18


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7 Determination of the Statutory Proposals to clarify the age range of Priestmead Primary School and Nursery
	Priestmead School report Annex A


